A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Vincente Ruiz asks this Court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Ruiz requests review of the partially published decision in State v. 

Vincente Ruiz, Court of Appeals No. 29645-8-III (slip op. filed Sept. 12, 

2013), attached as appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the court violates a defendant's constitutional right 

to confront the witnesses against him and prosecutorial misconduct occurs 

when the court allows the State to pose inculpatory questions to a witness 

who refuses to answer them based on the invalid invocation of a privilege? 

2. Whether the court denied Ruiz his constitutional right to 

present a complete defense m excluding exculpatory pre-trial 

identification evidence? 

3. Whether the court erred in admitting evidence of Ruiz's 

pnor arrest under ER 404(b) because its prejudice outweighed its 

probative value? 

4. Whether cumulative error violated Ruiz's due process right 

to a fair trial. 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1987, five men were shot to death at Medina's auto body shop in 

Pasco. 1RP 1088, 1478-79, 2673, 2924-36. Aldo Montes-Llamas was 

wounded but survived. 1RP 3209. Montes went by the false name of 

Jesse Rocio back in 1987 and was referred to by that name at trial. 1RP 

1114-15, 2057, 3273-85, 3287. Rocio was working at Medina's Body 

Shop on the day of the shooting. 1RP 3211-12. Rocio and Rocio's 

brother Medina, the owner of the shop, were involved in the drug trade. 

1RP 1291, 1339, 3210, 3688-89. Vehicles in the shop were used to 

smuggle drugs. 1RP 1291, 1339, 2357, 3687-88, 3709. Rocio, however, 

denied involvement with drugs at trial. 1RP 3325-27. 

Earlier on the day of the shooting, Rocio and Medina saw federal 

officers conducting a search at Eighth and A Street, which was made in 

conjunction with a federal drug investigation. 1RP 1618, 1621-30, 1895-

97, 3212-14, 3290. The people being searched noticed Rocio and his 

group laughed at them. 1RP 3215, 3291. At trial, Rocio identified 

"Antonio" and Ruiz as the subjects of the search. 1RP 3214-15. Rocio 

previously told a detective that he never saw Ruiz there, but was positive 

the shooters came from that location. 1RP 3303-04, 3306,3591, 3597. 

Rocio went back to the body shop after laughing at the men being 

searched. 1RP 3216. According to Rocio, two men arrived in a light blue 
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RX-7 and came into the shop. 1RP 3219, 3225, 3335. They briefly left 

then returned carrying firearms. 1RP 3220-22, 3232-33. Rocio identified 

Ruiz as one of these men at trial. 1 RP 3219-20. Rocio did not recognize 

the other man with Ruiz. 1RP 3221-22. They rounded up the men in the 

shop and gunfire erupted. 1RP 3222-24, 3233. Rocio dove under the car. 

1RP 3224. Rocio acknowledged there would have been dust under the car, 

but an evidence technician who processed the scene did not observe any 

smear marks in the dust. 1RP 2767, 2770-72, 3313-14. Rocio suffered a 

non-penetrating gunshot wound to the abdomen, likely caused by a 

ricocheted bullet. 1RP 2178-88. 

Shortly after the shooting, Rocio identified Ruiz as one of the 

shooters. lRP 1485, 1491-92. Rocio also picked Pedro Mendez-Reyna 

out of a montage, but it was not established at trial that he picked him 

from the montage as a shooter as opposed to identifying him for some 

other purpose. lRP 3338. Police witnesses testified that one of the 

mechanics that left before the shooting identified Ruiz as one of the men 

who came to the shop. lRP 3070-71, 3159. Medina, Rocio's brother, 

named "Vincente Mendez" as a suspect, giving a description of a blue 

Camaro as being involved. lRP 1362-63, 1387, 1445-46. 

Police searched Ruiz's apartment and found a large quantity of 

marijuana, a drug scale and a .223 caliber shell. 1RP 1764-69, 1771, 
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3192-93. Cartridges found at the shooting scene were .223 caliber and all 

fired from the same weapon. 1RP 2484,2486,2502,2710-23. 

Police seized a dark gray RX-7 parked outside of Ruiz's apartment 

building. 1RP 1294-95, 1392. The owner of a convenience store 

remembered two Hispanic teenage boys coming into her store on the day 

of the shooting to buy beef jerky. 1RP 2643-44. A store video showed 

one wore a straw hat with a dark band. 1RP 2649. An RX-7 was outside 

the store. 1RP 2639, 2642-43. Police found the hat and some beef jerky 

in the RX -7 seized from outside Ruiz's apartment building. 1 RP 187 5-77. 

In the car, police found a receipt from Phil's Sporting Goods for .223 

caliber ammunition. 1RP 1778-81. A fingerprint lifted from the car 

window of the RX-7 matched Ruiz. 1RP 1781-83, 2445-47, 3014. 

Another witness testified Ruiz test drove a brown RX-7 and that he wore a 

straw hat on the day of the shooting. 1RP 1703-09, 1712, 1721, 1730-33. 

Police seized an empty box of .38 caliber ammunition from the 

apartment of Ruiz's girlfriend. 1RP 2848, 2851, 2853-54. Some bullet 

fragments recovered from the scene came from a .357 Magnum or .38 

caliber firearm. 1RP 2519, 2528. 

Ruiz's girlfriend was pregnant with Ruiz's second child at the time 

ofthe shooting. 1RP 2114. Police were unable to locate Ruiz or Mendez

Reyna for quite some time after the shooting. 1RP 1556. Mendez-Reyna 

- 4 -



was later arrested in 1993 and pled guilty to the Medina body shop 

murders in 1994.1 lRP 1541, 1556-57, 1914; 4RP 68, 70. As part of the 

plea hearing, he testified under oath that Ruiz was the other shooter, 

giving a detailed narration of events leading up to and including the 

shooting. CP 997-1 011. 

In 2007, the investigating detective made contact with Ruiz in Los 

Angeles. lRP 1558-59. During interrogation, Ruiz said he left Pasco in 

1987 because he had a pre-planned vacation in Mexico. lRP 1561-

63,1660-64, 1678-80. His sister's Quinceanera, a special celebration of a 

girl's 15th birthday, took place at that time. lRP 3764-68, 3782, 3785. 

Ruiz had no contact with his girlfriend until his return in 2007. lRP 2114. 

The State wanted to call Mendez-Reyna to the stand at trial. 4RP 

63-66, 69-77. Outside the presence of the jury, Mendez made it clear he 

would invoke his Fifth Amendment right not to answer questions on the 

advice of his attorney. lRP 2623-24: 4RP 58, 61-63. The court 

determined this was an invalid invocation of the privilege. 1 RP 260 1-02; 

4RP 68-69. The State insisted Mendez be put on the stand so that the jury 

could observe his refusals to answer. lRP 2604-08, 2611-14; 4RP 69-77. 

1 Rocio identified the person who was in court in Franklin County in 1994 
as the other person who was with Ruiz at the shooting, but the jury never 
heard evidence that Mendez-Reyna was that person. lRP 3220, 3231-32. 
The jury never heard evidence that Mendez-Reyna appeared in a Franklin 
County court in 1994 and pleaded guilty. 
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The State contended it was entitled to pose leading questions concerning 

the crimes so that the jury could draw the inference that Mendez was 

covering up for Ruiz. 1RP 2605. The defense vociferously objected. 1RP 

2282-83, 2608-11, 2614-15, 2618-19; 4RP 70, 72-77, 152. The court 

permitted the State to do as it wished. 1RP 2284-85, 2615-18; 4RP 68-69. 

The prosecutor posed leading questions to Mendez detailing his 

involvement with the crime and inculpating Ruiz as the other shooter, 

which Mendez refused to answer. 1RP 2627-35 (exchange attached as 

Appendix B). The jury convicted Ruiz of premeditated murder and 

attempted first degree murder and the court imposed a sentence of life 

without the possibility ofparole. CP 4-14,21-31. 

On appeal Ruiz argued his right to confrontation was violated 

because the court allowed the prosecutor to question Mendez-Reyna in 

front of the jury and because the prosecutor committed misconduct in 

placing innuendo before the jury. Amended Opening Brief of Appellant 

(BOA) at 1-2, 15-33; Reply Brief (RB) at 1-23. Ruiz further argued the 

court violated his right to present a complete defense and erred in allowing 

the admission ofER 404(b) evidence. BOA at 33-49; RB at 23-35. The 

Court of Appeals found no constitutional error in the questioning of 

Mendez-Reyna and no reversible error overall. Slip op. at 1, 25, 30. 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. A DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION IS 
VIOLA TED WHEN THE PROSECUTOR QUESTIONS 
A STATE'S WITNESS KNOWING THE WITNESS 
WILL INVALIDLY INVOKE A PRIVILEGE NOT TO 
TESTIFY. 

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to confront the 

witnesses against them through cross-examination. Davis v. Alaska, 415· 

U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 1110, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); U.S. Canst. 

Amend. VI; Wash. Canst. art. 1, § 22. The trial court wrongly allowed the 

State to call Pedro Mendez-Reyna to the stand knowing he would refuse to 

answer questions. The prosecutor committed misconduct in posing 

questions to Mendez-Reyna that implicated Ruiz as the shooter. The trial 

court's erroneous ruling and the prosecutor's misconduct violated Ruiz's 

constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him. 

Whether the validity of a witness's assertion of a privilege not to 

testify determines whether such witness is available for purposes of 

confrontation is an issue of first impression in Washington. Most 

jurisdictions conclude it is error to put a witness on the stand knowing the 

witness will invoke an invalid privilege and then place the equivalent of 

testimony before the jury through exploitation of the witness's refusal to 

answer leading questions. The Court of Appeals disagreed, believing the 

defendant is not deprived o~ his right to confront the witness in such 
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circumstance. Slip op. at 13-17. The Court of Appeals further held there 

was no prosecutorial misconduct in placing innuendo before the jury by 

means of leading questions. Slip op. at 18-19. Review is warranted as a 

significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and as an 

issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

a. The Prosecutor's Exploitative Questioning Of 
Mendez-Reyna In Front Of The Jury Violated 
Ruiz's Right To Confrontation. 

In State v. Nelson, the prosecutor called an accomplice by the 

name of Patrick to the stand, knowing he would assert his Fifth 

Amendment privilege not to testify. State v. Nelson, 72 Wn.2d 269, 281, 

432 P.2d 857 (1967). The prosecutor asked a series of questions outlining 

the State's theory of the case against Nelson. Nelson, 72 Wn.2d at 278-79. 

In a plurality decision, the Supreme Court held "[t]he conduct of the 

prosecutor in placing Patrick on the stand, knowing that Patrick intended 

to claim his privilege against self incrimination to questions relating to the 

alleged crime, and seeking to get the details of Patrick's purported 

confession before the jury by way of impermissible inferences drawn from 

the witness' refusal to answer the questions propounded, constituted a 

denial of Nelson's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment." Id. 

at 285. 
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Left unanswered in Nelson IS whether a witness's invalid 

invocation of the privilege makes a difference. Courts in other 

jurisdictions conclude it doesn't. "Settled Supreme Court authority 

instructs that the validity of a witness's assertion of privilege does not 

determine whether such witness is subject to cross-examination." United 

States v. Torrez-Orteg§., 184 F.3d 1128, 1133 (lOth Cir. 1999) (citing 

Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 420, 85 S. Ct. 1074, 13 L. Ed. 2d 934 

(1965)). 

It is error to put a witness on the stand knowing the witness will 

invoke the privilege, whether it be invalid or valid, and then place the 

equivalent of testimony before the jury through exploitation of the 

witness's refusal to answer leading questions. State v. Morales, 788 

N.W.2d 737, 752 (Minn. 2010); People v. Gearns, 457 Mich. 170, 184-87, 

197-98, 203, 207-09, 577 N.W.2d 422 (Mich. 1998) (Brickley, J., lead 

opinion), (Cavanagh, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part), overruled 

on other grounds, People v. Lukity, 460 Mich. 484, 596 N.W.2d 607 

(Mich. 1999); Shockley v. State, 335 So.2d 659, 662 (Ala. Crim. App. 

1975); Commonwealth v. DuVal, 453 Pa. 205, 217, 307 A.2d 229 (Pa. 

1973); People v. Shipe, 49 Cal. App.3d 343, 349, 122 Cal. Rptr. 701 (Cal. 

Ct. App. 1975); Martin v. United States, 756 A.2d 901, 906 (D.C. 2000); 

United States v. Griffin, 66 F.3d 68, 71 (5th Cir. 1995). 
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The Court of Appeals believed no confrontation error occurred on 

the theory that the defense could have cross-examined Mendez-Reyna. 

Slip op. at 16. The Court of Appeals did not explain how a witness who 

refuses to answer questions is subject to confrontation. "Ordinarily a 

witness is regarded as 'subject to cross-examination' when he is placed on 

the stand, under oath, and responds willingly to questions." Torrez-Ortega, 

184 F.3d at 1132 (quoting United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 561, 108 

S. Ct. 838, 98 L. Ed. 2d 951 (1988)) (emphasis added). "However, 

'limitations on the scope of examination by the trial court or assertions of 

privilege by the witness may undermine the process to such a degree that 

meaningful cross-examination within the intent of the Rule no longer 

exists."' Torrez-Ortega, 184 F.3d at 1132 (quoting Owens, 484 U.S. at 

562). A witness who asserts an illegitimate claim of privilege, and refuses 

to answer questions at trial, is not sufficiently available for cross

examination to satisfy the requirements of the Confrontation Clause. I d. at 

1131. 

Mendez-Reyna chose not to answer any questions about the crime. 

1RP 2627-35. Mendez-Reyna was forced to the stand but he did not 

respond willingly to such questions, even when ordered to do so, 

"precisely because of his obstinate and repeated assertion of the privilege 

against self-incrimination." Torrez-Ortega, 184 F.3d at 1132. Mendez-
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Reyna's refusal to testify before he took the stand was absolute and 

unequivocal. 1RP 2623-24; 4RP 58, 61. A witness is not subject to cross

examination when it is established that he will not answer questions before 

taking the stand. Torrez-Ortega, 184 F.3d at 1133. 

Simply put, a witness who invalidly invokes a privilege and 

refuses to testify is no more subject to confrontation than a witness who 

validly invokes the privilege and refuses to testify. Drawing a distinction 

between valid and invalid assertions of the privilege improperly turns "the 

focus away from the assertion of the privilege before the jury, which is the 

source of error, and toward an irrelevant determination that has absolutely 

no bearing on the inferences drawn by the jury." Gearns, 457 Mich. at 209 

n.l (Cavanagh, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). "[D]efendants 

are just as likely to suffer from unfair inferences when a witness asserts an 

invalid Fifth Amendment privilege as when a witness asserts a valid 

privilege." Morales, 788 N.W.2d at 752; accord, Griffin, 66 F.3d at 71. 

In holding to the contrary, the Court of Appeals relied upon State v. 

Barone, 329 Or. 210, 986 P .2d 5 (Or. 1999) and its Oregon predecessors. 

Slip op. at 15-17. The Court of Appeals, following Barone, allows the 

defendant to be punished through the injection of prejudice into a case 

where the defendant is powerless to avoid it. The Court of Appeals 
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improperly focused on the impropriety of the witness's actions, rather than 

the impropriety of allowing the State to prejudice the outcome ofthe trial. 

The Court of Appeals believes it is good policy to force witnesses 

to take the stand and refuse to answer questions in front of the jury. Slip 

op. at 17-18. But Ruiz was the one on trial, not Mendez-Reyna. Ruiz is 

the one with the right to confront the witnesses against him and the due 

process right to a fair trial. Ruiz had two witnesses testifying against him 

that he could not cross-examine: Mendez-Reyna and the prosecutor. 

Mendez-Reyna's refusal to answer the prosecutor's leading questions 

concerning Ruiz's involvement in the crimes was as strong as pointing a 

finger at Ruiz and saying he did it. 

b. Prosecutorial Misconduct Violated Ruiz's Right To 
Confrontation And Due Process Right To A Fair 
Trial. 

"A person being tried on a criminal charge can be convicted only 

by evidence, not by innuendo." State v. Yoakum, 37 Wn.2d 137, 144,222 

P .2d 181 (1950). A prosecutor places the equivalent of testimony before 

the jury when detailed, leading questions put the prosecution's version of 

the facts before the jury. Nelson, 72 Wn.2d at 282-83; Robbins v. Small, 

371 F.2d 793, 795 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 386 U.S. 1033, 87 S. Ct. 1483, 

18 L. Ed. 2d 594 (1967). The prosecutor doggedly questioned Mendez-

Reyna about Ruiz's role in the shooting after Mendez-Reyna invoked his 
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privilege on the stand and refused to obey the court's order to testify. 

While a prosecutor might not invariably commit misconduct in calling a 

witness to the stand knowing the witness will invoke the privilege, 

misconduct certainly occurs when the prosecutor persists in exploiting the 

refusal to testify by continuing to ask leading questions after the witness 

has invoked an invalid privilege. State v. Corrales, 138 Ariz. 583, 589-91, 

676 P.2d 615 (Ariz. 1983); Gearns, 457 Mich. at 187-93. The leading 

questions posed to Mendez-Reyna represented an extensive, first-hand 

narrative of the murders and the events leading up to the shooting. 1RP 

2629-33. Such questions are tantamount to "prosecutorial testimony." 

Hagez v. State, 110 Md. App. 194,222,676 A.2d 992 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 

1996). 

The Court of Appeals concluded there was no misconduct by 

innuendo because, with the exception of two questions, there was either a 

factual basis for each question elsewhere in the trial record or was a 

reasonable inference from other trial testimony. Slip op. at 21. The 

innuendo behind the questions, however, is that Mendez-Reyna gave an 

earlier statement that formed the factual basis for those questions. The 

prejudicial force of the prosecutor's questions lay in the fact that they told 

the story of Mendez-Reyna's personal eyewitness account of the shootings 

and the events leading up to the shootings without his personal eyewitness 
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account being placed into evidence. The prosecutor had no way to 

introduce extrinsic evidence of Mendez-Reyna's eyewitness account 

except through the innuendo contained in the testimonial questions put to 

Mendez-Reyna. The prosecutor based his questions on what Mendez

Reyna testified to at the plea hearing. 1RP 2611-12, 4RP 73-75; CP 997-

1011. Mendez-Reyna's prior statements were not admitted into evidence. 

The prosecutor imparted his personal knowledge of the case to the jury in 

questioning Mendez-Reyna. 

c. The Error Was Prejudicial. 

The State did not show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt. There was evidence to support the defense theory of mistaken 

identity. 1RP 1720-21, 1734, 1737-39, 3770-71, 3774, 3796-98. Rocio 

provided the only direct, first-hand account of how the shooting happened. 

Rocio's credibility was compromised. A collection of circumstantial 

evidence otherwise connected Ruiz, or someone who looked like Ruiz, to 

the shootings in some manner. But that evidence is not overwhelming on 

the crucial question of whether those shootings were premeditated. 

The jury was given the option of finding Ruiz guilty of the lesser 

offenses of second degree murder and attempted second degree murder. 

CP 57, 68-73, 77-78. The State itself proposed the lesser offense 

instructions, acknowledging a rational trier of fact could plausibly 
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conclude "the individuals went to the body shop anned with guns in case 

some trouble developed and then in the heat of passion, shot and killed the 

victims." 1RP 3840, 3849-54. The innuendo supplied by the questions 

put to Mendez-Reyna left no doubt that the shootings were premeditated 

and that Ruiz, and not a relative that resembled Ruiz, was the shooter. 

That is why the error is not hannless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

2. THE COURT VIOLATED RUIZ'S CONSTITUTIONAL 
RIGHT TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE WHEN 
IT EXCLUDED FAVORABLE IDENTIFICATION 
EVIDENCE. 

Due process reqmres an accused be given a meaningful 

opportunity to present a complete defense. Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 

683,690, 106 S. Ct. 2142,90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986); U.S. Const. amend. VI, 

XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 22. The trial court violated Ruiz's 

constitutional right to present a complete defense in excluding as hearsay 

under ER 801(d)(l)(iii) evidence that a now-deceased sporting goods store 

owner, Phil Van Hoy, had identified Ruiz's brother, Antonio Mendez, as 

one of the purchasers of the ammunition and was unable to positively 

identify Ruiz as being present at the time. 1 RP 167-68, 569-71, 1804-06; 

CP 223-24. Ruiz seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

State evidentiary rules that infringe upon a weighty interest of the 

accused to present evidence in his defense are not controlling when they 
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are arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they were designed to 

serve. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 

L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006). "This is true even if the rule under which it is

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