RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 12, 2013, 2:21 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89429-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

VICENTE RUIZ aka VICENTE MENDEZ

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FRANKLIN COUNTY

SHAWN P. SANT Prosecuting Attorney

by: FRANK W. JENNY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

1016 North Fourth Avenue Pasco, WA 99301 Phone: (509) 545-3543

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

In <u>People v. Gearns</u>, 457 Mich. 170, 577 N.W.2d 422 (1998), the lead opinion noted that a constitutional confrontation clause violation was found by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Douglas v. Alabama</u>, 380 U.S. 415, 85 S.Ct. 1074, 13 L.Ed.2d 934 (1965). The court explained:

In <u>Douglas</u>, the trial judge ruled that witness could not rely on the privilege against self-incrimination to support his refusal to testify because he had been convicted. He was ordered to answer, but persisted in his refusal. The prosecutor produced a document purported to be the witness' confession and read from the document, asking the witness every few lines whether he had made that statement, until the entire document was read to the jury. The Supreme Court held that, in the circumstances of that case, the petitioner's inability to cross-examine the witness about the alleged confession denied him the right of cross-examination secured by the Confrontation Clause.

Gearns, 577 N.W.2d at 428 (citation omitted). The Michigan Supreme Court continued:

Implicit in the [United States] Supreme Court's Confrontation Clause jurisprudence is that a witness must put forth <u>some testimony</u> before the defendant's right of confrontation comes into play. A defendant has no right to confront a witness who does not provide any evidence at trial. A mere inference is simply insufficient for a confrontation clause violation.

<u>Id.</u> at 430 (emphasis original; citations omitted). Since in the consolidated cases in <u>Gearns</u> there were no statements or other evidence presented to the jury that were the equivalent of testimony, there was no confrontation clause violation. <u>Id.</u> at 429. Five of the seven justices joined in opinions finding no constitutional violation. <u>Id.</u> at 429, 445-48. The other two justices did not address the constitutional confrontation issue. <u>Id.</u> at 439-45.

While the equivalence of testimony has been found in cases where the prosecutor's questioning of a contemptuous witness discloses to the jury the existence of prior statements or testimony by the witness, there is no authority for such a finding where, as here, no mention is made of those previous utterances. Lower court decisions on which defendant relies where confrontation violations were found all involve situations, like <u>Douglas v. Alabama</u>, where the witness asserted a valid privilege and/or reference was made in the jury's presence to the prior statements of the recalcitrant witnesses. <u>See Shockley v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 659 (Ala. App. 1975) (as explained in <u>Limbaugh v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 582, 588 (Ala.

App. 1989)) (Prosecutor asked witness about his prior statements. When he refused to answer, his statement was read back to him in front of the jury); People v. Shipe, 49 Cal. App. 3d 343, 122 Cal. Rptr. 701, 704-05 (1975) (Prosecutor asked witnesses if they had given statements to police and prosecutors and if those statements were true, creating an inference "that the witnesses had related the events about which they were being questioned to the authorities and that their statements were true"); United States v. Torrez-Ortega, 184 F.3d 1128, 1131-32 (10th Cir. 1999) (Prosecutor read excerpts of witness's grand jury testimony and asked if he had made those statements).

Other cited cases are not constitutional confrontation cases at all, and thus have no relevance to the issue being raised. See State v. Morales, 788 N.W.2d 737, 744 &756 (Minn. 2010) (Prosecutor read from witness's prior testimony and asked if he had given that testimony. Decision based solely on Minnesota evidentiary law); Martin v. United States, 756 A.2d 901, 906 (D.C. App. 2000) (Victim held in contempt outside jury's presence for refusing to testify. No indication of relationship between defendant and victim such that victim may have been protecting defendant. Case merely holds procedure did not violate defendant's rights); Commonwealth v. DuVal, 453 Pa. 205, 307 A.2d 229, 223-34 & n. 3 (1973) (Prosecutor called reluctant non-accomplice witnesses without giving trial court opportunity to rule on whether they were required to testify. Witnesses actually had valid Fifth Amendment claims. It appeared the witnesses were

motivated only by fear of prosecution for perjury based on their earlier testimony. Decision based solely on Pennsylvania evidentiary law.); Gearns, 577 N.W.2d at 436-38 (Witnesses were at best accessories after the fact and no indication their refusal to testify was motivated to protect defendant. Court only considered prejudicial effect without balancing against probative value. Decision based solely on Michigan evidentiary law.); United States v. Griffin, 66 F.3d 68, 70-71 & n. 6 (5th Cir. 1995) (Case only holds that right to compulsory process is not guarantee a defendant may call jury's attention to a witness's refusal to testify. "Our holding should not be taken to mean that a court may never grant such a request, but that the Sixth Amendment does not require it.").

Defendant also cites <u>State v. Nelson</u>, 72 Wn.2d 269, 432 P.2d 857 (1967), a <u>plurality</u> opinion signed by only three justices. The <u>Nelson</u> plurality did find it was improper for the prosecutor to call a witness named Patrick knowing he would invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege. However, the <u>Nelson</u> plurality made clear that "Patrick's claim of the privilege against self-incrimination was proper, although he had pleaded guilty to the charge of second-degree murder, since he was subject to possible prosecution on an attempted burglary or robbery charge." <u>Id.</u> at 277. Thus, the <u>Nelson</u> plurality merely states the general rule that a prosecutor may not force an accomplice to assert a <u>valid</u> Fifth Amendment claim in the jury's presence. The critical fifth vote came from Justice Hill, who noted that Patrick could be called as a witness at the retrial following the issuance of the court's

decision; by then, the statute of limitations on any ancillary crimes would have expired and "[a] witness cannot invoke the Fifth Amendment merely to protect another from punishment." Nelson, 72 Wn.2d at 286 (Hill, J., concurring). In the instant case, Mr. Mendez-Reyna entered guilty pleas to all five counts of aggravated murder and the one count of attempted murder. (CP 769-91). The statute of limitations on any ancillary crimes arising from the 1987 incident expired decades ago; in any event, the prosecution of such crimes would be barred by the modern mandatory joinder rule. See CrR 4.3.1(b). Any Fifth Amendment claim was clearly bogus. As in the retrial in Nelson, it was proper here for the State to call the convicted accomplice as a witness.

There was no constitutional confrontation violation here. The prosecutor did not read from Mr. Mendez-Reyna's prior confession or testimony or ask if he had made those statements. In fact, there was no mention made at all of his prior testimony and statements. (RP 2627-33). The prosecutor merely asked the questions, suggested by the testimony of other witnesses during the trial, which the jurors themselves would have wanted to ask if they had the opportunity. Mr. Mendez-Reyna only exhibited contemptuous behavior in the courtroom; while his antics certainly created some inferences, he did not put forth any testimony when he uttered, "I plead the Fifth." Accordingly, the confrontation clause did not come into play.

Defendant further forfeited any claim that he was unable to cross-examine Mr. Mendez-Reyna simply because he made no effort to do so. The trial court made very clear that if Mr. Mendez-Reyna "does answer, then he will be subject to cross-examination by the defense." (RP 2617). The trial court expressly directed Mr. Mendez-Reyna to answer the questions of the State, "and any questions that may be asked by the defense[.]" (RP 2630). But defense counsel declined to question Mr. Mendez-Reyna when given the opportunity by the trial court. (RP 2635).

Since defendant did not ask Mr. Mendez-Reyna any questions, it is unknown how he would have responded. The witness had already demonstrated his unpredictability by testifying in the jury's presence that he does not know defendant (RP 2627) despite his earlier claims that he would not answer any questions (RP 2624). Merely because he was hostile to the prosecutor, it cannot be assumed he would not have responded favorably to friendly questions from his own cousin's attorney.

In <u>Denton v. State</u>, 348 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 1977), the court found no prejudice had been shown from an alleged inability to cross-examine a witness; the record did not show "that the defense was denied the right to question the witness on a material matter within the knowledge of the witness or to show what the witness's testimony would have been [had he answered truthfully]." <u>Id.</u> at 1034. By the same token, not only did defendant not attempt to question Mr.

Mendez-Reyna, he did not even make an offer of proof of matters within the knowledge of the witness concerning which defendant wished to inquire. Accordingly, no prejudice has been shown from any inability to question the witness. See State v. Allan, 88 Wn.2d 394, 396-97, 562 P.2d 632 (1977) (offer of proof required to show prejudice from inability to examine witness).

A witness who is present and takes the stand, but then refuses to testify with no valid claim of privilege, is available for cross-examination for purposes of the Confrontation Clause if no effort is make to compel the witness to respond. Fowler v. State, 829 N.E.2d 459, 465-68 (Ind. 2005). In Fowler, the Indiana Supreme Court explained that Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) is not dispositive in such circumstances as Crawford dealt with a witness who was not physically present at trial. Fowler, 829 N.E.2d at 466. Fowler involved a domestic violence victim, Ms. Roar, who was called to the stand by the State and sworn as a witness, but refused to answer any questions concerning the incident. Neither the State nor the defense made any attempt to compel her to answer further questions. The defendant did not recall her for examination even after her excited utterances were admitted. The court noted that "a defendant's decision not to seek to compel the witness's testimony, like the decision not to subpoena a witness, leaves open the availability of the witness." Id. at 470. The court further noted:

Because Roar refused to answer the questions from the defense on cross-examination during Fowler's criminal trial, either the prosecutor or the defendant could have requested the court to conduct a hearing on Roar's refusal and then determine whether Roar was required to answer the questions. We can only speculate as to what the result of such an inquiry would have been. It seems clear, however, that there is a range of possible remarks from very favorable to the defense ("I lied to Officer Decker") to very unfavorable ("my husband threatened me if I testified"). . . . We simply point out that there are very good reasons that a defendant may choose to forgo pressing the issue if a witness, such as Roar, refuses to testify. . . . By choosing to allow Roar to leave the witness stand without challenging her refusal to answer questions on cross-examination and then choosing to not recall her to the stand after her statement was admitted through Decker's testimony, Fowler's right to further confrontation was forfeited.

Id. (citation omitted). As in Fowler, here there was a range of possibilities if defendant had pressed the issue of the witness's refusal to answer questions. If defense counsel was confident Mr. Mendez-Reyna would not respond to questions posed by him, he had the option of asking him a series of questions favorable to defendant; this would have demonstrated to the jury that Mr. Mendez-Reyna would answer, "I plead the Fifth" to any and all questions. But this would have been a risky strategy indeed. It is possible Mr. Mendez-Reyna, overcome by guilt and emotion on the witness stand, would have begun testifying truthfully that he and defendant jointly committed the murders. A third possibility is one that may have been the most devastating to defendant's case: That he would have responded to friendly questions by defense counsel by giving testimony inconsistent with that provided at the time of his guilty plea, which would have made his earlier

testimony admissible as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i). Indeed, defense counsel was "walking on eggshells" to not do anything that would make Mr. Mendez-Reyna's prior testimony admissible. As in <u>Fowler</u>, it was a strategic decision by the defense to get the witness off the stand as rapidly as possible. By choosing to allow Mr. Mendez-Reyna to leave the witness stand without attempting to question him on cross-examination, any right to further confrontation was waived.

(2) There is no substantial issue of prosecutorial misconduct.

There is likewise no issue of prosecutorial misconduct in this case. State v. Lowry, 56 Or. App. 189, 641 P.2d 1144 (1982) squarely holds that it is not misconduct for a prosecutor call a witness to the stand knowing that the witness will refuse to testify, where the witness "does not have a valid basis for asserting his rights under the Fifth Amendment." Id. at 1146. Such is the case here. Mr. Mendez-Reyna could not be incriminated by merely repeating what he had previously disclosed under oath (CP 876-906), Tomlin v. United States, 680 A.2d 1020, 1022 (D.C. App. 1996), and his convictions had been final for many years (CP 769-91), Reina v. United States, 364 U.S. 507, 513, 81 S. Ct. 260, 5 L. Ed. 2d 249 (1960). Moreover, as previously noted, there was no reference to Mr. Mendez-Reyna's previous statements or testimony. (RP 2627-33).

Cases cited by defendant are clearly not on point for either or both of the above reasons. State v. Corrales, 130 Ariz. 583, 676 P.2d 615, 619 n. 1 (1983) (Witness had valid Fifth Amendment claim as his conviction was not yet final); Robbins v. Small, 371 F.2d 793, 794 & 796 n. 5 (1st Cir. 1967) (Witness asserted valid Fifth Amendment claim. Prosecutor formulated leading questions from witness's signed statement, which he held in his hand. Prosecutor asked, "Did you make a statement to the Portland police on the day of the alleged robbery?" and "Was it in connection with the case against Small?"); Hagez v. State, 110 Md. App. 194, 676 A.2d 992, 1005 (1996) (Prosecutor repeatedly asked defendant's wife, who was asserting spousal privilege, if she had made certain statements to police, which was "akin to asking Marina Oswald if she had told the police that she saw her husband in possession of a rifle at the Texas School Book Depository on November 22, 1963") (emphasis added).

Absent a valid claim of privilege, leading questions may properly be posed to a hostile witness. ER 611(c). Hostility may arise not only where a witness is surly or contemptuous on the stand, but where the witness is closely associated with the defendant or the crime. 5A KARL B. TEGLAND, WASH. PRAC. EVIDENCE § 611.17 at 549 n. 8 (5th ed. 2007) (citing <u>United States v. Brown</u>, 603 F.2d 1022 (5th Cir. 1979) (while witness called by prosecution was not hostile in sense of being contemptuous or surely, he was close friend of defendant and appeared to be involved in same crime)). Here, the witness was <u>both</u> (a)

contemptuous on the stand, and (b) defendant's first cousin who participated in the same crime. Leading questions were proper.

Defendant asserts the questions corresponded to Mr. Mendez-Reyna's prior testimony, but neglects to mention that shows there was a good faith basis for the questions. As to each question, there were three possibilities: (1) The witness would testify consistently with his previous testimony; (2) The witness would testify inconsistently with his prior testimony, in which case the earlier testimony would become admissible as substantive evidence under ER 801(d)(1)(i); or (3) The witness would wrongfully refuse to answer the question, which would give rise to "the logical inference that a truthful answer would have implicated defendant." State v. Abbott, 275 Or. 611, 552 P.2d 238, 241 (1976). In either event, the prosecutor did nothing improper.

A different situation may have existed if the prosecutor had asked questions that made the jury aware of Mr. Mendez-Reyna's prior testimony (e.g., "Did you previously testify that Vicente Ruiz was the man who was with you and along with you shot and killed those other men?"). But that simply did not occur.

(3) Other issues have no merit.

Other issues raised by defendant are adequately addressed in the unpublished portion of the Court of Appeals opinion.

(4) Even if error occurred, it was harmless.

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